

## Multifamily and Commercial Mortgages: An Overview of Issues

-name redacted-

Specialist in Financial Economics

January 23, 2014

**Congressional Research Service** 

7-.... www.crs.gov R41046

## Summary

As the recovery from the recession of December 2007-June 2009 continues, congressional interest in multifamily and commercial mortgages has shifted from worries about the immediate impact of foreclosures to consideration of the future of mortgage finance. During the recession, losses on mortgages raised concerns about the risk to tax payers through Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance, which is backed by the full faith and credit of the federal government. Significant parts of these losses occurred due to commercial loans at smaller insured depositories. The federal government has invested more than \$187 billion in Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, which guarantee single-family and multifamily mortgages. Although Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac do not have explicit full faith and credit backing from the federal government, they do have a legal agreement that would provide additional government funds, if needed.

Congressional interest in mortgage reform, including multifamily mortgages, is reflected in several bills that have been introduced. In the House, only H.R. 2767, the Protecting American Taxpayers and Homeowners Act of 2013 (PATH Act), has been ordered to be reported by the Financial Services Committee. In the Senate, hearings have been held on S. 1217, commonly referred to as the Corker-Warner bill. Both would wind down Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, which have been key sources of multifamily finance. (Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are prohibited by their congressional charters from activities not directly related to single-family and multifamily mortgages and have not been involved in commercial lending.) The PATH Act makes no mention of multifamily housing finance. Corker-Warner would create a new entity, the Federal Mortgage Insurance Corporation (FMIC), which would take over Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's role in multifamily finance.

The PATH Act would greatly reduce the government's role in the mortgage system whereas the Corker-Warner bill would reshape the government's role.

This report is an overview of multifamily and commercial mortgage issues that may be of interest to Congress. It compares multifamily and commercial mortgages to the more familiar single-family mortgages. For an analysis of legislation, see CRS Report R43219, *Selected Legislative Proposals to Reform the Housing Finance System*, by (name redacted), (name redacted), and (name redacted).

## Contents

Overview of Multifamily and Commercial Finance	1
Current Concerns and Legislation	4
Risk to Government and Taxpayers	5
Current State of Mortgage Markets	7
Who Holds Commercial and Multifamily Mortgages?	9

## Figures

Figure 1. Moody's REAL Commercial and Apartment Property Index	8
Figure 2. Multifamily and Commercial Mortgages Outstanding	9
Figure 3. Holders of Multifamily Residential Mortgages	11
Figure 4. Holders of Commercial Mortgages	12

## Tables

## Appendixes

Appendix A. Mortgage-Backed Securities	. 13	3
Appendix B. Underwriting Mortgages	. 1:	5

#### Contacts

Author Contact Information
----------------------------

ny mortgage, be it on a single-family house, a multifamily building, a commercial building, or a farm, is a loan that is to be repaid over an agreed period of time, at a specified interest rate, that pledges the structure as collateral. This report concentrates on multifamily and commercial mortgages. It examines policy concerns over the future of multifamily finance and commercial and multifamily mortgage losses in the aftermath of the December 2007-June 2009 recession.<sup>1</sup>

Single-family housing is usually defined as a structure with one to four units, making multifamily housing five or more units. Commercial mortgages are mortgages secured by non-farm, non-residential property.

Single-family mortgages are familiar to many. The most popular single-family mortgage has a fixed interest rate, is paid off over 30 years with identical monthly payments, and the average amount borrowed in recent years was approximately \$220,000.<sup>2</sup> In contrast, multifamily and commercial loans most commonly have variable interest rates, mature in 10 or fewer years, have a large balance (called a balloon) that must be paid off at the end of the term, and the amount borrowed ranges from hundreds of thousands to millions of dollars.

This report analyzes the multifamily and commercial mortgage markets, sometimes using singlefamily mortgages as a comparison. It examines some of the risks that these mortgage markets contain. **Appendix A** explains mortgage-backed securities (MBS), and **Appendix B** discusses how mortgage applications are approved or rejected.

## **Overview of Multifamily and Commercial Finance**

Multifamily mortgages finance a significant share of the nation's housing stock. Multifamily housing includes traditional apartment buildings, subsidized housing, seniors housing, and student housing. Approximately 34% of households live in rental housing, and 41% of renters live in multifamily (five or more units) structures.<sup>3</sup> Overall, 14% of households live in multifamily apartments.<sup>4</sup>

Rental property ownership varies with the number of units in the property. Individuals own a greater share of small- and medium-sized rental projects: approximately 83% of 2- to 4-unit rental properties and 49% of 5- to 49-unit rental properties are owned by individual investors.<sup>5</sup> Partnerships and limited liability companies own 72% of 50 plus-unit projects.<sup>6</sup> Since 2011, investment pools have increased their activity and have begun to own larger shares of single

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> National Bureau of Economic Research, "US Business Cycle Expansions and Contractions," http://www.nber.org/ cycles.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Neil Bhutta and Glenn B. Canner, "Mortgage Market Conditions and Borrower Outcomes: Evidence from the 2012 HMDA Data and Matched HMDA–Credit Record Data," *Federal Reserve Bulletin*, November 2013, p. 19, http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/bulletin/2013/pdf/2012 HMDA.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> U.S. Census Bureau, *American Housing Survey, 2011: Complete Set of Tables and Standard Errors*. Table C-12-RO. http://www.census.gov/housing/ahs/files/ahs11/2011%20National%20Standard%20Errors.xls.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Condominiums are usually in multifamily structures, but are financed with single-family mortgages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> U.S. Census Bureau, 2012 Rental Housing Finance Survey Microdata, as cited in National Multi Housing Council, *Quick Facts: Ownership and Management*, http://www.nmhc.org/Content.cfm?ItemNumber=55497.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ibid.

family rentals in select markets.<sup>7</sup> Business investor purchases of single-family homes are relatively small, but have grown from approximately 1% of sales in 2004 to approximately 6.5% of 2012 sales.<sup>8</sup>

Multifamily and commercial mortgages are very similar, but both differ from a single-family, owner-occupied mortgage in many ways:<sup>9</sup>

- The multifamily and commercial mortgage markets are much smaller than the single-family market. At the end of the third quarter of 2013, there were \$908 billion of multifamily mortgages, \$2,233 billion of commercial mortgages, and \$9,864 billion of single-family mortgages.<sup>10</sup>
- Individual multifamily and commercial mortgages are much larger than a typical single-family mortgage. Multifamily and commercial mortgages frequently are for millions of dollars while single-family mortgages typically are for hundreds of thousands of dollars.
- Many multifamily mortgages, especially large ones purchased by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, are non-recourse, which means in the event of foreclosure the borrower's liability is limited to the property; home mortgage recourse varies by state. Commercial mortgages are similar in these regards to multifamily mortgages, except that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac cannot purchase commercial mortgages.
- Multifamily and commercial mortgages commonly have adjustable interest rates. Most single-family mortgages have fixed interest rates.<sup>11</sup>
- Multifamily and commercial mortgages usually have prepayment penalties, but single-family mortgages do not.
- Multifamily and commercial mortgages are not structured to be paid off over the life of the mortgage, <sup>12</sup> and are usually refinanced at the end of the mortgage. Single-family mortgages are paid off over the term of the mortgage, and are most commonly refinanced only when paid off early.
- Multifamily and commercial mortgages frequently have a life of 7-10 years, although FHA multifamily mortgages can have longer terms. Single-family mortgages are most commonly for 30 years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Harvard Joint Center for Housing Studies, *State of the Nation's Housing 2013 Report*, Chapter 5: Rental Housing, p. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Amherst Holdings cited in Raven Molloy and Rebecca Zarutskie, "Business Investor Activity in the Single-Family Housing Market," *FEDS Notes*, December 5, 2013, http://www.federalreserve.gov/econresdata/notes/feds-notes/2013/ business-investor-activity-in-the-single-family-housing-market-20131205.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For more information on some of these differences, see, Fannie Mae, *An Overview of Fannie Mae's Multifamily Mortgage Business*, May 1, 2012, pp. 4-5, https://www.fanniemae.com/content/fact\_sheet/multifamilyoverview.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Board of Governors, Federal Reserve System, *Financial Accounts of the United States: Flow of Funds*, September 25, 2013, Tables L. 218 and L. 219, http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/z1/Current/z1r-4.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Emanuel Moench, James Vickery, and Diego Aragon, "Why Is the Market Share of Adjustable-Rate Mortgages So Low?" *Federal Reserve Bank of New York Current Issues in Economics and Finance*, December 2010. http://www.newyorkfed.org/research/current\_issues/ci16-8.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Technically, commercial mortgages typically amortize over a period longer than the life of the mortgage leaving a balance to be paid at the end of the mortgage's term.

- Multifamily and commercial mortgage applications are underwritten on the rent collected, not on owner incomes.
- Multifamily and commercial financing is likely to be customized based on the project, the borrower, and the lender. It can include various types of credit enhancements such as letters of credit, insurance, cash reserve accounts, sinking funds to finance major repairs, and overcollateralization. Single-family mortgages are much more standardized.

Multifamily, commercial, and single-family underwriting share some characteristics:

- All use the loan-to-value ratio as one measure of risk to the lender.
- All use the ratio of the mortgage payments to income (owner in the case of owner-occupied, project in the case of multifamily) as a measure of ability to pay.

Commercial and multifamily property is purchased as a business investment to earn a profit, whereas owner-occupied homes are purchased primarily for shelter.<sup>13</sup> If the rate of profit on a project is greater than the cost of borrowing, profitability can be increased—at the cost of increased risk—by increasing leverage, that is, by borrowing more of the money required to finance the project.

Financial analysis of a proposed investment weighs the expected profits against the risks. For example, a lender will seek a higher profit on riskier mortgages to compensate for the risk of a loss. When a specific potential borrower appears to present elevated risk levels, the lender either quotes a higher mortgage rate, adds terms and conditions to reduce the risk, or, in the extreme case, declines to make the loan.

The risk to a lender can be reduced by requiring the commercial or multifamily borrower to contribute more money to the purchase (i.e., make a larger downpayment) or by requiring some sort of credit enhancement, such as a third-party guarantee. In some situations, credit risk can be reduced by making the loan for a shorter period of time.

Balloon payments in commercial or multifamily mortgages occur because the borrower's payments do not fully amortize the loan. This allows the same amount of cash flow to support a larger mortgage and the real estate owner to purchase more property with the same assets. The balloon payments in commercial or multifamily mortgages are sometimes called "soft bullets" and "hard bullets." A soft bullet allows the borrower the option to extend the life of the mortgage, perhaps at a higher interest rate, but a hard bullet does not allow extension. Most the time the soft bullet option is not exercised and the mortgage is refinanced.

The shorter term for multifamily and commercial mortgages coupled with prohibitions or financial penalties for prepayment provide both borrower and lender with greater cash flow certainty. Prepayments are a risk for lenders because borrowers tend to prepay when interest rates have declined, leaving the lender to replace the prepaid mortgage with a lower interest rate mortgage. In general, lenders prefer to make loans with contractual prohibitions on prepayments, expensive penalties for prepayments, or higher interest rates. A borrower generally prefers terms

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Some home purchasers may have been motivated by the possibility of profits, but traditionally homes have been primarily for shelter and capital gains was an incidental motivation.

that allow prepayments without penalties and without a higher interest rate to compensate the lender.

Most single-family mortgages can be prepaid without penalty, but multifamily and commercial mortgages commonly require a borrower wishing to remove the lien on property (the equivalent of prepaying the mortgage) to give the lender U.S. Treasury bonds to match the cash flow of the mortgage.<sup>14</sup> (This is called defeasance.) This replaces the risky mortgage payments with riskless Treasury bonds paying the same interest rate; the borrower usually finds it more advantageous not to prepay.

In addition, the shorter multifamily and commercial mortgage life reduces the incentive for the borrower to prepay because there is less time to reap the benefits of the lower interest rate. The shorter mortgage life provides an opportunity for the property owner to increase leverage when refinancing.

The nonrecourse feature of most multifamily and commercial mortgages shifts some of the costs of foreclosure from the borrower to the lender. In the event of foreclosure, if the property is sold for less than the amount owed, the lender has no further remedy. If a loan is made with recourse, the borrower (corporate or individual) is responsible for the balance owed.

*Reserve accounts* are often required for multifamily and commercial mortgages and are an expansion of the escrow requirements that single-family mortgages typically contain. A homeowner makes monthly payments for property taxes and property insurance into an escrow account. A commercial or multifamily reserve account may have these and also payments for major items such as a new roof or heating, ventilation, and air conditioning system. Sometimes these accounts are set based on the specific property, and sometimes a rule of thumb is employed using the property's rents or square footage.

## **Current Concerns and Legislation**

As financial markets continue to recover from the December 2007-June 2009 recession,<sup>15</sup> congressional interest has turned from concerns about the impact of losses in multifamily and commercial mortgages on financial stability to reforming the single-family and multifamily mortgage markets. One key issue under debate is the question of what the federal government's role should be in residential mortgage markets, including multifamily housing.

Bills in both the House and Senate would wind down Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, two congressionally chartered government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs), which were created to support the market for single-family and multifamily mortgages.<sup>16</sup> By law, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are limited to purchasing existing single-family and multifamily mortgages that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Subprime mortgages usually prohibited prepayment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> National Bureau of Economic Research, "US Business Cycle Expansions and Contractions," http://www.nber.org/ cycles.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> For a more detailed analysis of these two bills, see CRS Report R43219, *Selected Legislative Proposals to Reform the Housing Finance System*, by (name redacted), (name redacted), and (name redacted). Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are currently under conservatorship and are being run by their regulator, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA). Treasury has invested more than \$187 billion total in the GSEs.

others have originated. They are prohibited from purchasing commercial mortgages and from extending mortgage credit directly to borrowers.

In the House, H.R. 2767,<sup>17</sup> the Protecting American Taxpayers and Homeowners (PATH) Act of 2013, proposes to wind down Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac over a period of years. It would replace them with a National Mortgage Market Utility that would facilitate mortgage securitization, but would not provide a government guarantee. The act would also eliminate or delay the implementation of certain existing regulations that some believe are inhibiting recovery in the mortgage market. The bill makes no mention of the GSEs' multifamily lending. The PATH Act would make the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) an independent agency and take steps to improve its finances by reforming its single-family and multifamily mortgage insurance programs.

In the Senate, S. 1217,<sup>18</sup> the Housing Finance Reform and Taxpayer Protection Act of 2013 (Corker-Warner), proposes to wind down Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and to replace the Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA) with a new entity to be called the Federal Mortgage Insurance Corporation (FMIC). The FMIC would be an independent agency charged with supporting the mortgage market and providing reinsurance on eligible mortgage-backed securities (MBS).<sup>19</sup> These MBS would have an explicit full-faith-and-credit federal government guarantee, and the FMIC would regulate aspects of the mortgage market related to these MBS. The FMIC would assume the GSEs' multifamily finance role.

Securitization—packaging mortgages into negotiable securities—has spread the rewards and risks of holding mortgages internationally. Losses from single-family, multifamily, and commercial real estate are not confined to the United States. Trouble with overseas real estate can expose U.S. investors to losses, and vice versa.

#### **Risk to Government and Taxpayers**

During the recession, concerns about the elevated delinquency and foreclosure rates for mortgages in general led some to worry that mortgages for multifamily and commercial real estate could have caused difficulties for the nation's financial system.<sup>20</sup> Notably, in January 2010, a large multifamily project in New York City (Stuyvesant Town and Peter Cooper Village) purchased for \$5.4 billion defaulted on \$4.4 billion in mortgages.<sup>21</sup> The owners of Stuyvesant Town and Peter Cooper Village settled their debt by turning the properties over to the lenders.<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> H.R. 2767 was introduced on July 22, 2013, by Representative Scott Garrett. On July 24, 2013, it was ordered to be reported out of the House Financial Services Committee. It is also being considered by the House Committee on Ways and Means. This section describes the PATH Act as it was ordered to be reported out of the Financial Services Committee.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> S. 1217 was introduced on June 25, 2013, by Senator Bob Corker and referred to the Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs. On July 23, 2013, the Subcommittee on Securities, Insurance, and Investment held a hearing on the bill, and the full committee has held multiple hearings on it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Mortgage-backed securities are bonds that are backed by pools of mortgages, i.e., the payment of interest and repayment of principal depends on the payments of the mortgage borrowers. Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and Ginnie Mae (a government agency) provide additional guarantees of repayments, but other securitizers do not. For additional information, see **Appendix A**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Mortgages are generally classified as home (residential), multifamily, commercial, and farm. Commercial real estate includes shopping centers, medical buildings, and industrial property.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> For a recent industry comment on the state of commercial real estate see Mortgage Bankers Association, *Mortgage* (continued...)

The risk to the government from all mortgages has decreased as the economy has recovered. The risk to the government from mortgage markets stems from two types of federal guarantees: explicit and implicit. The government has provided explicit full faith and credit guarantees to the FDIC, FHA, and others.<sup>23</sup>

FDIC-insured depositories—especially small banks—have significant exposure to multifamily and commercial mortgages. When an insured depository becomes insolvent, perhaps because of losses due to mortgage defaults, the FDIC liquidates the bank's assets and pays off insured depositors and other certain creditors. FDIC insurance is funded by assessments on insured deposits, which, at least theoretically, could prove to be inadequate. The FDIC could raise the assessments on banks to raise more funds, it could ask Congress for special appropriations, or it could go to Treasury for the necessary funds.<sup>24</sup>

FHA guarantees mortgages on multifamily housing, assisted-living facilities, nursing homes, and hospitals, as well as single-family homes. If property owners fail to make their payments, FHA is required to honor its guarantees to the lenders. If losses to FHA exceed the reserves accumulated from fees charged in earlier years, FHA could have to get funds from Treasury or ask Congress for additional funding.<sup>25</sup>

The federal government has implicitly backed Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's guarantees to purchasers of MBS.<sup>26</sup> The congressional charters led investors to assume that the federal government would act if Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac were unable to honor the guarantees on their MBS. As part of the conservatorship agreements between Treasury and each of the GSEs, Treasury agreed to purchase senior preferred stock from the GSEs. Treasury has invested more than \$187 billion in the two GSEs to keep them solvent. Although recent GSE profitability makes the need for future financial support appear to be unlikely, Treasury could be required to purchase additional preferred stock and would issue debt to purchase the stock.<sup>27</sup>

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

Delinquency Rates for Major Investor Groups, Q3 2013, http://www.mortgagebankers.org/files/Research/ CommercialNDR/3Q13CommercialNDR.pdf. Earlier media reports on the commercial real estate recovery include Prabha Natarajan, "Delinquency Rate Rises for Mortgages—Commercial Borrowers Fall Behind," *Wall Street Journal*, January 8, 2009, p. C4 and Charles V. Bagli, "Huge N.Y. Housing Complex Is Returned to Creditors," *New York Times*, January 25, 2009, A12. The latter is available at http://www.nytimes.com/2010/01/25/nyregion/25stuy.html?hp.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Charles V. Bagli and Christine Haughney, "Wide Fallout in Failed Deal for Stuyvesant Town," *The New York Times*, January 26, 2010, p. A1, New York.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> The Department of Veterans' Affairs and the Department of Agriculture have smaller, federally guaranteed home mortgage guarantee programs. The loan guarantees by the Small Business Administration (SBA) carry a full faith and credit guarantee.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>The FDIC has raised the assessment on insured banks. See, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, "Assessment Rate Adjustment Guidelines for Large and Highly Complex Institutions," 76 *Federal Register* 57992-58003, September 19, 2011; and Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, "Assessments, Large Bank Pricing," 76 *Federal Register* 10672-10733, February 25, 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> For more information about FHA's financial situation, see CRS Report R42875, *The FHA Single-Family Mortgage Insurance Program: Financial Status and Related Current Issues*, by (name redacted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> For more information about the federal government's support of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, see CRS Report R42760, *Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's Financial Status: Frequently Asked Questions*, by (name redacted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Fannie Mae's multifamily delinquency rate peaked at over 3% and Freddie Mac's peaked at over 6%, but currently both have delinquency rates of less than 1%. See Mortgage Bankers Association, *Mortgage Delinquency Rates for Major Investor Groups, Q3 2013*, http://www.mortgagebankers.org/files/Research/CommercialNDR/ 3Q13CommercialNDR.pdf.

#### **Current State of Mortgage Markets**

Recently, mortgage markets have improved. Delinquencies are decreasing, real estate prices are increasing, and the volume of mortgages outstanding is increasing.<sup>28</sup> According to research by an economist at the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, "The recovery of commercial property prices has been notable.... Valuation measures do not suggest that current prices are excessive."<sup>29</sup> According to a report by the Mortgage Bankers Association, multifamily and commercial delinquency rates continued to decline in the third quarter of 2013. "Commercial and multifamily mortgage performance continues to reflect overall economic gains," said Jamie Woodwell, MBA's Vice President of Commercial Real Estate Research. "Improvements in underlying property performance and property values, and the continued availability of multifamily and commercial mortgage financing, led to declines in delinquency rates for every major investor group."<sup>30</sup>

Prices of home, multifamily, and commercial property—especially foreclosed property—declined during the recession. As a result, loss severity increased during the recession. More recently, multifamily and commercial property values have increased, reducing loss severity. **Figure 1** charts a measure of multifamily and commercial prices from January 2001 through September 2013. According to the data, average commercial and multifamily property prices were flat in 2001, increased until the end of 2007, and declined sharply in 2008 and 2009. Since 2010, commercial prices have recovered on average to 90% of their maximum, and multifamily prices have recovered to their maximum.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> For example, Trepp, "US CMBS Delinquency Rate Breaks 8% Threshold, Gains to Continue in 2013," press release, October 31, 2013, https://www.trepp.com/2013/10/31/us-cmbs-delinquency-rate-breaks-8-threshold-gains-to-continue-in-2013/. Increasing real estate prices benefit the owners of real estate, but put those planning to purchase real estate in the future at a disadvantage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> John Krainer, *Commercial Real Estate and Low Interest Rates*, Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, FRBSF Economic Letter, 2013-22, April 22, 2013, http://www.frbsf.org/economic-research/publications/economic-letter/2013/ april/commercial-real-estate-low-interest-rates/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Mortgage Bankers Association, *Mortgage Delinquency Rates for Major Investor Groups: MBA Commercial Real Estate/Multifamily Finance*, Third Quarter 2013, http://www.mba.org/files/Research/CommercialNDR/3Q13CommercialNDR.pdf.



Figure 1. Moody's REAL Commercial and Apartment Property Index

January 2001to September 2013 Fourth Quarter 2000 = 100

**Source:** CRS calculations based on data from Real Capital Analytics, *Moody's/RCA CPPI*, available at https://www.rcanalytics.com/Public/rca\_cppi.aspx.

As shown in **Figure 2**, the volume of multifamily and commercial mortgages outstanding has generally increased since the first quarter of 2000. Multifamily volume decreased slightly between the fourth quarter of 2009 and the first quarter of 2012, but has increased since then. Except for intermittent increases, commercial mortgages outstanding declined between the first quarter of 2009 and the first quarter of 2013; it has increased in the second and third quarters of 2013.



Figure 2. Multifamily and Commercial Mortgages Outstanding

**Source:** Board of Governors, Federal Reserve, "Z. I Financial Accounts of the United States: Historical Data, Quarterly," http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/z1/Current/Disk/Itabs.zip. Tables L. 219 and L. 220 and CRS calculations.

**Notes:** Data are not seasonally adjusted.

# Who Holds Commercial and Multifamily Mortgages?

At the end of the third quarter of 2013, multifamily and commercial real estate mortgages totaled \$3,140.7 billion compared with \$13,182.1 billion in total mortgages.<sup>31</sup> **Table 1** shows who holds multifamily and commercial mortgages.<sup>32</sup> The largest holder of commercial mortgages and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve, "Z. 1: Flow of Funds of the United States," press release, December 9, 2013, Tables L. 217, L. 219, and L. 220, http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/z1/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Lenders frequently originate mortgages and sell them to others. Data available report the holder of the mortgage as of the date of the report.

multifamily mortgages, providing 54.7% of commercial mortgages and 30.0% of multifamily mortgages, is U.S.-chartered depositories, which experienced severe financial distress during the recession. The GSEs hold 27.7% of outstanding multifamily mortgages and, together with government agencies, securitized an additional 15.3%. Thus, directly and indirectly, the GSEs and government agencies supported 44.5% of multifamily mortgages outstanding.

Third Quarter, 2013								
	Multifamily Mortgages		Commercial Mortgages					
Source	Volume (\$ billions)	Percentage of Total Volume	Volume (\$ billions)	Percentage of Total Volume				
State and local governments, excluding employee retirement funds	\$75	8%						
U.Schartered depository institutions	272	30%	\$1,222	55%				
Life insurance companies	52	6%	281	12%				
Government-sponsored enterprises	252	28%						
Agency-and GSE-backed mortgage pools	139	15%						
Issuers of asset-backed securities less securitized REIT	75	8%	487	22%				
Finance companies								
Real estate investment trusts								
Other	43	5%	242	11%				
Total	\$908	100%	\$2,233	100%				

#### Table I. Sources of Multifamily and Commercial Mortgages Outstanding

**Source:** Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve, "Z. I: Flow of Funds of the United States," press release, December 9, 2013, http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/z1/Current/. Tables L. 219 and L. 220 and CRS calculations.

**Note:** Other includes sectors holding 5% or less of the total mortgages. These are households and nonprofit organizations, nonfarm nonfinancial, nonfarm noncorporate, property-casualty insurance companies, private pension funds, and state and local government retirement funds.

**Figure 3** is based on the multifamily data in **Table 1** and illustrates the market shares of various multifamily mortgage investor classes. U.S.-chartered depository institutions (mainly banks and thrifts) are the largest investors with \$272 billion, followed by the GSEs' holdings of \$252 billion. In addition, the GSEs and Ginnie Mae (a government agency that is part of HUD), have issued \$139 billion of multifamily MBS.



Figure 3. Holders of Multifamily Residential Mortgages Outstanding at end of Third Quarter, 2013

**Source:** Chart prepared by CRS based on CRS calculations and Board of Governors, Federal Reserve, *Financial Accounts of the United States: Z. 1. Flow of Funds*, September 25, 2013, Table L. 219, "Multifamily Residential Mortgages," http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/z1/Current/.

**Notes:** Investor groups with mortgage holdings of less than 5% of the multifamily residential mortgages are combined into the "Other" category.

**Figure 4** is a graphic representation of the commercial mortgage data in **Table 1**. There are no agency- and GSE-backed commercial mortgage pools, but asset-backed securities (ABS) represent 22% of outstanding commercial mortgages. At 55%, U.S.-chartered depositories are the largest sector holding commercial mortgages.





# **Source:** Chart prepared by CRS based on CRS calculations and Board of Governors, Federal Reserve, *Financial Accounts of the United States: Z. I. Flow of Funds*, September 25, 2013, Table L. 2220, "Commercial Mortgages," http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/z1/Current/.

**Notes:** Investor groups with mortgage holdings of less than 5% of the multifamily residential mortgages are combined into the "Other" category.

## **Appendix A. Mortgage-Backed Securities**

Like single-family mortgages, multifamily and commercial mortgages are frequently pooled into mortgage-backed securities (MBS). MBS allow institutional lenders to supply mortgage money to borrowers throughout the nation, even if these lenders do not have the capability to issue or to service the mortgages. In theory, this allows for greater efficiencies through specialization and economies of scale. Some businesses specialize in originating multifamily and commercial mortgages, others in servicing the mortgages, and others, such as commercial banks, life insurance companies, savings institutions, MBS issuers, and government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs, i.e., Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac), in supplying the funds. Other businesses specialize in rating commercial MBS (CMBS).

CMBS, like single-family mortgage-backed securities (commonly abbreviated as MBS), are typically created by sponsors that originate (or sometimes purchase) a mortgage and sell it to a trust that issues the CMBS. This creates a "bankruptcy remote" entity that should not be affected if the sponsor declares bankruptcy.

CMBS, like MBS, can be divided into tranches or classes to better meet potential purchasers' preferences for risk, cash flow, diversification, etc. One typical CMBS prospectus sought to raise \$3.3 billion divided into 12 tranches ranging in size from \$13 million to \$1.2 billion.<sup>33</sup> The tranches had different expected lives, repayment of principal schedules, interest rates, and risk profiles.

This CMBS was divided into three separate real estate mortgage investment conduits (REMICs), which are tax pass-throughs, meaning that the holders of the CMBS classes are taxed, but the REMIC is not taxed. Federal law and IRS regulations establish the rules that an MBS servicer must follow to be a REMIC. For example, to maintain their status as tax pass-throughs and to avoid being taxed, REMICs must be "passively" managed. Before the IRS issued Revenue Procedure 2009-45, an underlying mortgage could be modified only when "occasioned by default or a reasonably foreseeable default." IRS Revenue Procedure 2009-45 allows servicers to modify mortgages before default if, "[B]ased on all the facts and circumstances, the holder or servicer reasonably believes that there is a significant risk of default of the pre-modification loan upon maturity of the loan or at an earlier date" without jeopardizing the REMIC's tax status.<sup>34</sup>

In addition, the contract between the MBS servicer and the investors (called the pooling and servicing agreement or PSA) could prevent modifications that the Revenue Procedures allow. A typical PSA prevents the servicers from modifying the underlying loans in ways that

- change the payment of principal or interest,
- impair the security of the loan, or
- reduce any credit enhancements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Bear Stearns Commercial Mortgage, Inc., *Bear Stearns Commercial Mortgage Securities Trust 2004-TOP16*, June 11, 2004, http://edgar.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/908987/000095013604003372/file001.htm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Internal Revenue Service, "Revenue Procedure 2009-25," *Internal Revenue Bulletin: 2009-40*, October 5, 2009, http://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-drop/rp-09-45.pdf.

Certain modifications are allowed if

- default is imminent,
- the modification could reduce losses on a mortgage, or
- the modification would not reduce credit enhancements.

## **Appendix B. Underwriting Mortgages**

Underwriting is the process of reviewing and analyzing the risks and potential profitability of a loan application. Basically, underwriting a loan application estimates the ability and willingness of the potential borrower to repay the loan on schedule, and the likely value of the collateral in the event that the borrower does not repay the loan.

The process of underwriting single-family mortgages considers an applicant's income, history of paying previous loans, and the likely value of the home in the event of foreclosure. Commercial and multifamily mortgage underwriting is similar, but differs with respect to the terms of the loan and the type of borrowers. Instead of considering the applicant's income, the income generated by the property is evaluated. The borrower's ability and willingness to repay the mortgage is considered. The likely value of the property in foreclosure is also considered. In addition, the terms of multifamily and commercial mortgages are much less standardized so the risks that the borrower will not make all required mortgage payments are reviewed.

Single-family, multifamily, and commercial mortgages all require professional appraisals. A single-family appraisal usually is based on the sale of comparable homes in the area, but multifamily and commercial property is frequently unique, necessitating a different approach. Typically, a commercial or multifamily appraisal depends on an analysis of the market for similar property, the property's competitiveness within that market, and the property's ability to generate a cash flow to service the mortgage.

Two ratios are widely used in underwriting multifamily and commercial mortgages: the debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) and the loan to value ratio (LTV). The DSCR is the annual net cash flow of the property divided by the annual principal and interest payments of the mortgage. For example, this cash flow might come from the rent paid by tenants. An application with a DSCR of more than 1.0 has more projected net cash flow than required for paying the mortgage. In some cases, such as acquisition, development, and construction (ADC) loans, a lender will accept a DSCR below 1.0 but require the borrower to place additional funds in a reserve account. Most multifamily and commercial mortgage underwriting considers mortgage terms, such as fixed or floating interest rates, when determining if a DSCR is adequate.

The DSCR is somewhat analogous to the front-end ratio or ratio of housing expenses to income for single-family mortgages and measures the ability of a property to make its mortgage payments.

The LTV is a measure of how much collateral would be available in the event of a default. A lower LTV reflects a smaller loan on a more valuable property and a greater chance of recovering the amount lent in the event of default. The maximum LTV on owner-occupied homes with mortgages insured by FHA is 96.5%, and "conforming" single-family mortgages with LTVs above 80% require credit enhancements such as borrower paid mortgage insurance. There are no comparable maximums for multifamily and commercial mortgages.

In short, the DSCR is an indicator of the probability of default, and the LTV is a way to summarize the loss severity if a default occurs.

#### **Author Contact Information**

( name redacted) Specialist in Financial Economics [redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

### EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.